
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
CENTRAL DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA

CIVIL MINUTES - GENERAL

Case No. SACV 09-422 JVS (ANx)  Date July 16, 2009

Title Razmig Tchoboian v. Parking Concepts, Inc., et al.

1 15 U.S.C. § 1681c(g) provides:  

(1) In general. Except as otherwise provided in this subsection, no person that
accepts credit cards or debit cards for the transaction of business shall print more
than the last 5 digits of the card number or the expiration date upon any receipt
provided to the cardholder at the point of the sale or transaction.

   (2) Limitation. This subsection shall apply only to receipts that are electronically
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Plaintiff Razmig Tchoboian (“Tchoboian”) seeks class certification pursuant to
Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 23.  Defendants Parking Concepts, Inc., et al. (“PCI”)
oppose the motion.

I. Background

Tchoboian alleges that, on or after December 4, 2006, at the point of a sale or
transaction, PCI provided him with several electronically printed receipts on each of
which PCI printed more than the last five digits of his credit or debit card number and/or
the expiration date of his credit or debit card in violation of the Fair and Accurate Credit
Transactions Act (“FACTA”).  15 U.S.C. § 1681c(g); Compl. ¶ 31.  This subsection of
the Fair Credit Reporting Act (“FCRA”), 15 U.S.C. § 1681, et seq., prohibits persons
who accept credit or debit cards from printing more than the last five digits of the card
number or the expiration date.  15 U.S.C. § 1681c(g).  The statute provides for two
compliance deadlines:  Machines in use before January 1, 2005 must have been brought
into compliance before December 4, 2006, and machines first used on or after January 1,
2005 were required to comply by December 4, 2004.1  Tchoboian does not allege actual
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printed, and shall not apply to transactions in which the sole means of recording a
credit card or debit card account number is by handwriting or by an imprint or
copy of the card.

   (3) Effective date. This subsection shall become effective--
      (A) 3 years after the date of enactment of this subsection [enacted Dec. 4,

2003], with respect to any cash register or other machine or device that
electronically prints receipts for credit card or debit card transactions that
is in use before January 1, 2005; and

      (B) 1 year after the date of enactment of this subsection [enacted Dec. 4,
2003], with respect to any cash register or other machine or device that
electronically prints receipts for credit card or debit card transactions that
is first put into use on or after January 1, 2005.

2  15 USC § 1681n provides that: “Any person who willfully fails to comply with any
requirement imposed under this title [15 USC § 1681 et seq.] with respect to any consumer is
liable to that consumer in an amount equal to the sum of –  (1) (A) any actual damages sustained
by the consumer as a result of the failure or damages of not less than $ 100 and not more than $
1,000.”  
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damage, but requests statutory damages of not less than $100 and not more than $1,000
for each willful violation as provided for in the FCRA, as well as punitive damages,
costs, and attorneys’ fees.  15 U.S.C. § 1681n.2 

Tchoboian requests certification of a class defined as follows:

All consumers to whom Defendants, after December 3, 2006,
provided an electronically printed receipt at the point of a sale
or transaction at the parking facility located at 1400 Ivar
Avenue in Hollywood, California [“the Ivar Facility”], on
which receipt Defendants printed more than the last five digits
of the consumer’s credit card or debit card number.

Tchoboian also requests that this Court appoint Tchoboian as class representative
and Chant Yedalian of Chant & Company A Professional Law Corporation, as class
counsel for the Plaintiff Class.
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II. Legal Standard

All class actions in federal court must meet the following four prerequisites for
class certification:

(1) the class is so numerous that joinder of all members is
impracticable, (2) there are questions of law or fact common to
the class, (3) the claims or defenses of the representative parties
are typical of the claims or defenses of the class, and (4) the
representative parties will fairly and adequately protect the
interests of the class.

Fed. R. Civ. P. 23(a).

In addition, a plaintiff must comply with one of three sets of conditions set forth
in Rule 23(b).  Here, Tchoboian argues that the class should be certified because it
meets the requirements of Rule 23(b)(3), under which a class may be maintained
where common questions of law or fact predominate over questions affecting
individual members and where a class action is superior to other means to adjudicate
the controversy. 

The decision to grant or deny class certification is within the trial court’s
discretion.  Yamamoto v. Omiya, 564 F.2d 1319, 1325 (9th Cir. 1977).  In doing so, a
trial court is not permitted to make a preliminary inquiry into the merits. Eisen v.
Carlisle and Jacquelin, 417 U.S. 156, 177-78 (1974).  Instead, the Court is only
required to form a reasonable judgment.  Blackie v. Barrack, 524 F.2d 891, 901 n.17
(9th Cir. 1975).  The Court may require the parties to provide additional material from
which the Court may make an informed judgment as to each requirement of class
certification.  Id.

III. Discussion

A. PCI’s Liability

Before directly addressing whether this action satisfies Federal Rules of
Civil Procedure 23(a) and 23(b)(3), this Court turns to PCI’s argument that it was
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improperly named as a defendant in this action.  PCI argues that Tchoboian should
have brought this action against the Community Redevelopment Agency of the
City of Los Angeles (“CRA/LA”), which owns the machines and financially
benefits from the relevant transactions.  (Opp. p. 1.)  PCI contends that it is not a
proper defendant because it only provides staffing, maintenance, janitorial, and
related services for the Ivar Facility pursuant to two Parking Management and
Operations Agreements (“PMOA”), and does not own or control the machines that
accept the credit and debit cards.  (Id.)   

As set forth above, the pertinent portion of FACTA provides that:  

Except as otherwise provided in this subsection, no person that accepts
credit cards or debit cards for the transaction of business shall 
print more than the last 5 digits of the card number or the expiration date
upon any receipt provided to the cardholder at the point of the sale or
transaction.

   
15 U.S.C. § 1681c(g) (emphasis supplied).

Thus, in order to be held liable, PCI would have to have accepted the cards,
printed the non-complying receipts provided to the cardholders, or be liable for
another’s such conduct.  Tchoboian has alleged just such conduct.  (Compl. ¶¶ 30-
32.)  PCI argues that the Court should look at the evidence behind the Complaint to 
determine whether PCI’s conduct could fit within the provisions of the statute.        

In Eisen, 417 U.S. at 177-78, the Supreme Court rejected a district court’s
finding, made after a preliminary hearing on the merits of the case, that the
petitioner was more than likely to prevail on his claims.  The district court’s
finding was made in connection with the determination as to whether the suit could
be maintained as a class action.  Id.  The Supreme Court explained that:

We find nothing in either the language or history of Rule 23 that gives a
court any authority to conduct a preliminary inquiry into the merits of a
suit in order to determine whether it may be maintained as a class action. 
Indeed, such a procedure contravenes the Rule by allowing a
representative plaintiff to secure the benefits of a class action without
first satisfying the requirements for it. . . . This procedure is directly
contrary to the command of subdivision (c)(1) that the court determine
whether a suit denominated a class action may be maintained as such (a)s
soon as practicable after the commencement of (the) action.
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Id. (internal quotations omitted).

The Supreme Court further found that “[i]n determining the propriety of a
class action, the question is not whether the plaintiff or plaintiffs have stated a
cause of action or will prevail on the merits, but rather whether the requirements of
Rule 23 are met.”  Id. (internal quotations omitted).  The Court also noted that “a
preliminary determination of the merits may result in substantial prejudice to a
defendant, since of necessity it is not accompanied by the traditional rules and
procedures applicable to civil trials.”  Id. at 178.  

To be sure, a court may look beyond the complaint and consider other
material before it in order to form a reasoned judgment as to whether the
requirements of Rule 23 have been met.  Blackie, 524 F.2d at 900-01.  Indeed, the
Ninth Circuit has recognized “that courts are not only at liberty to but must
consider evidence which goes to the requirements of Rule 23 [at the class
certification stage] even [if] the evidence may also relate to the underlying merits
of the case.”  Dukes v. Wal-Mart, Inc., 509 F.3d 1168, 1178 n.2 (9th Cir. 2007)
(citing Hanon v. Dataproducts Corp., 976 F.2d 497, 509 (9th Cir.1992)).  The
Ninth Circuit has also explained that:

[A] court is bound to take the substantive allegations of the complaint as
true, thus necessarily making the class order speculative in the sense that
the plaintiff may be altogether unable to prove his allegations.  While the
court may not put the plaintiff to preliminary proof of his claim, it does
require sufficient information to form a reasonable judgment. . . . neither
the possibility that a plaintiff will be unable to prove his allegations, nor
the possibility that the later course of the suit might unforeseeably prove
the original decision to certify the class wrong, is a basis for declining to
certify a class which apparently satisfies the Rule. . . . An extensive
evidentiary showing of the sort requested by defendants is not required. 
So long as he has sufficient material before him to determine the nature
of the allegations, and rule on compliance with the Rule’s requirements,
and he bases his ruling on that material, his approach cannot be faulted
because plaintiffs’ proof may fail at trial.

Blackie, 524 F.2d at 900-01. 

The case of Miller v. Mackey Intern., Inc., 452 F.2d 424, 428 (5th Cir.
1971), is also instructive.  There, the court found that “there is absolutely no
support in the history of Rule 23 or legal precedent for turning a motion under Rule
23 into a Rule 12 motion to dismiss or a Rule 56 motion for summary judgment by
allowing the district judge to evaluate the possible merit of the plaintiff’s claims at
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this stage of the proceedings.  Failure to state a cause of action is entirely distinct
from failure to state a class action.”  

Here, PCI has requested that the Court find that PCI did not violate FACTA.
PCI has provided the Court with a detailed account of the method of payment for
parking at the Ivar Facility and of PCI’s involvement.  (Opp. pp. 2-8.)  PCI has
cited to a variety of Declarations and Exhibits in support of its argument, including
to the PMOAs.  (Id.)  Certain portions of the PMOAs set forth the scope of PCI’s
services.  (Midolo Decl., Ex. B, part A.)  

The Court has reviewed the Complaint in this action as well as the evidence
cited to by the parties as part of its determination of whether the Rule 23
requirements have been met.  The Court finds, however, that to review the
evidence in order to determine PCI’s liability in this case would violate the
principles set for in Eisen and would improperly convert this motion into a motion
to dismiss or a motion for summary judgment.  The question of whether PCI may
ultimately be held liable or whether Tchoboian has failed to state a claim as to
PCI’s liability is not a proper consideration on this motion.  Although both parties
have referred to evidence, including the PMOAs, the Court finds that the question
of whether PCI can be said to have violated FACTA is an improper determination
on the merits.  This question would be better considered after both parties have had
the opportunity to fully address the question.  For example, if the issue were
brought up on a motion for summary judgment, the parties may want to provide
additional facts supporting their positions, beyond what the Court now has in front
of it.                  

The Court finds, therefore, that PCI’s request for the Court to consider
whether it may be held liable goes beyond the Court’s consideration of whether
Tchoboian has set forth sufficient allegations and sufficient information for the
Court to form a reasonable judgment regarding class certification.  The Court will
therefore not provide an analysis of whether PCI is likely to be found to have
violated FACTA on this motion.3  The Court now turns to the Rule 23(a) and
23(b)(3) analysis. 

B. Rule 23(a) Prerequisites

1. Numerosity

There are several factors a court may consider in determining whether a
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plaintiff has satisfied the numerosity requirement.  First, a court may consider whether
the size of the class warrants certification.  Gen. Tel. Co. of the Northwest, Inc. v.
E.E.O.C., 446 U.S. 318, 330 (1980).  Though there is no exact numerical requirement,
a class of fifteen or fewer has been rejected.  Id.; Harik v. California Teachers Ass’n,
326 F.3d 1042, 1051 (9th Cir. 2003).  “Although the absolute number of class
members is not the sole determining factor, where a class is large in numbers, joinder
will usually be impracticable.”  Jordan v. Los Angeles County, 669 F.2d 1311, 1319
(9th Cir. 1982), vacated on other grounds, 459 U.S. 810 (1982).  In Jordan, the Ninth
Circuit determined that the proposed class sizes in that suit of 39, 64, and 71 were
large enough such that the other factors need not be considered.  Id.  

Here, Tchoboian alleges that “there are, at a minimum, thousands (i.e. two
thousand or more) of members that comprise the Plaintiff Class.”  (Compl. ¶ 17.) 
“The fact that the size of the proposed class has not been exactly determined is not a
fatal defect in the motion; a class action may proceed upon estimates as to the size of
the proposed class.”  In re Alcoholic Beverages Litigation, 95 F.R.D. 321, 324 (D.C.
N.Y. 1982).  The sheer number of potential class members justifies the Court’s finding
that the class in this case meets the numerosity requirement.

In a related argument, PCI argues that the class is not ascertainable because
there is no way to determine other than through individual trials who requested
receipts from the POF machines, and who was provided a receipt by the Central
Cashier, or by a cashier at the exit terminals.  (Opp. pp. 12-13.)   “A factor to consider
for numerosity . . .  is whether the class is ascertainable.  The class members need not
be known at the time of certification, class membership must be objectively
ascertainable; i.e., it must be possible for the members to identify themselves as a
member of the class.”4   Johnson v. GMRI, Inc., 2007 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 27368, 21-22
(E.D. Cal. Mar. 28, 2007) (emphasis supplied) (citing DeBremaecker v. Short, 433
F.2d 733, 734 (5th Cir. 1970) (class made up of residents of a State active in the peace
movement does not constitute an adequately defined or clearly ascertainable class))
(quotations omitted).  

Here, the Court finds that, although the class members are not currently known,
they are objectively ascertainable, certainly by themselves on notice of the pendency
of a certified class.  In contrast to the vague characterization of the class members in
DeBremaecker, the class members in the present action were either provided a receipt
or they were not.  The Court recognizes that there may be some difficulty in
ascertaining the class.  However, the Court can imagine methods of identifying the
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class members, including publishing a notice of the action and allowing class
members to come forward.  To the extent that this holding conflicts with the holding
in Deitz v. Comcast Corp., 2007 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 53188, at *25-26 (N.D. Cal. July
11, 2007) (denying certification where “[i]t would be impossible to determine without
significant inquiry which subscribers owned” subject devices), the Court declines to
follow that case.  

2. Commonality

Rule 23(a)(2) requires that questions of law or fact be common to the class. 
This requirement is permissively construed.  Hanlon v. Chrysler Corp., 140 F.3d 1011,
1019 (9th Cir. 1998).  “The existence of shared legal issues with divergent factual
predicates is sufficient, as is a common core of salient facts coupled with disparate
legal remedies within the class.”  Id.  

In this case, there is a common core of salient facts across the class.  Each
member of the proposed class allegedly received a non-compliant receipt from PCI
after the FACTA compliance deadline.  In addition, there are substantial shared legal
issues.  The overriding legal issue is whether PCI’s alleged non-compliance was
willful so that the class members are entitled to statutory damages.  Moreover,
whether PCI violated FACTA is a combined question of law and fact common to all
members.  Although there may be some difficulty in determining who received a non-
compliant receipt, the Court nevertheless finds that there is a common core of salient
facts and legal issues.  Hanlon, 150 F.3d at 1019; see also Staton v. Boeing Co., 327
F.3d 938, 957 (9th Cir. 2003).  The Court therefore finds that the proposed class
members share sufficient commonality to satisfy Rule 23(a)(2).

3. Typicality

Under Rule 23(a)’s “permissive standards, representative claims are ‘typical’ if
they are reasonably co-extensive with those of absent class members; they need not be
substantially identical.”  Hanlon, 140 F.3d at 1020.  There must be a demonstration
that the “named plaintiff’s claim and the class claims are so interrelated that the
interests of the class members will be fairly and adequately protected in their absence.
. . .”  General Tel. Co. of Southwest v. Falcon, 457 U.S. 147, 157 (1982).

Here, Tchoboian’s claim is, in fact, “substantially identical” to the claims of the
proposed class members – namely, he alleges that PCI issued him a non-complaint
receipt in willful violation of the FACTA.  Accordingly, the Court finds that
Tchoboian meets the typicality requirement.
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where class representatives demonstrate disinterest in the case and “cede[] control” to counsel
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4. Fair and Adequate Representation

Representation is adequate if (1) class counsel are qualified and competent and
(2) the class representative and his or her counsel are not disqualified by conflicts of
interest.  Lerwill v. Inflight Motion Pictures, Inc., 582 F.2d 507, 512 (9th Cir. 1978).  

Class counsel must be experienced and competent.  See Hanlon, 150 F.3d at
1021.  When certifying a class, a Court is required to appoint class counsel, unless a
statute provides otherwise.  Fed. R. Civ. P. 23(g)(1)(A).  Tchoboian seeks
appointment of Chant Yedalian of Chant & Company A Professional Law
Corporation as class counsel.  The Court finds that the proposed class counsel is
qualified, competent, and have no known conflicts of interest with the proposed class
representative.  PCI does not challenge their qualifications or competence, nor does it
contend that the class representative or counsel are disqualified by conflicts of
interest.  

Rule 23(a)(4) also requires that “the representative parties fairly and adequately
protect the interests of the class.”  This requirement is to ensure that the named
plaintiff and his or her counsel will pursue each class member’s claim with sufficient
“vigor.”  Hanlon, 150 F.3d at 1021; see also Crawford v. Honig, 37 F.3d 485, 487 (9th
Cir. 1994).  The class representatives may not have interests antagonistic to the
remainder of the class.  Lerwill, 582 F.2d at 512. 

PCI contends that Tchoboian is not an adequate class representative because he
has “no clue” what amount of statutory damages he entitled to or how it should be
determined.  (Opp. p. 14.)  The Court is not persuaded by this argument.  Tchoboian is
not required to have himself calculated a specific amount of statutory damages, nor is
Tchoboian required to know how to perform the calculation himself.  PCI further
argues that Tchoboian is an inadequate representative because he did not name
CRA/LA as a defendant in this action.  Contrary to PCI’s suggestion, there is no
requirement that Tchoboian bring suit against all possible defendants.  Moreover,
Tchoboian has represented that he plans to join CRA/LA as a defendant.  (Reply. p.
17.)  In addition, the Court does not find that Tchoboian has failed to properly
investigate this matter.5  
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The Court accordingly finds that the requirements of Rule 23(a) are satisfied
with respect to the general class.  The Court further finds that Tchoboian is an
adequate class representative and Chant Yedalian of Chant & Company A
Professional Law Corporation are appropriate class counsel.

C. Rule 23(b)(3)

Tchoboian seeks certification under Rule 23(b)(3).  “Subdivision (b)(3)
encompasses those cases in which a class action would achieve economies of time,
effort, and expense, and promote uniformity of decision as to persons similarly
situated, without sacrificing procedural fairness or bringing about other undesirable
results.”  Kamm v. Cal. City Dev. Co., 509 F.2d 205, 211 (9th Cir. 1975) (quoting
Committee notes).  A class action may be certified where common questions of law or
fact predominate over questions affecting individual members and where a class
action is superior to other means to adjudicate the controversy. 

1. Predominance

The “predominance inquiry tests whether proposed classes are sufficiently
cohesive to warrant adjudication by representation.”  Amchem Prods. v. Windsor, 521
U.S. 591, 623 (1997).  The Court must rest its examination on the legal or factual
questions of the individual class members.  Hanlon, 150 F.3d at 1022.  

The Court agrees with Tchoboian that common questions of fact and law
predominate over individual differences between proposed class members.  Class
members share the significant common questions of law as to whether PCI violated
FACTA and whether such noncompliance was willful.  PCI contends in response that
any assessment of liability requires an individual factual determination of whether
each class member was provided a noncompliant receipt.  (Opp. p. 15.)  The Court
recognizes that there may be some difficulty in determining who received
noncompliant receipts.  However, the Court finds that even to the extent that this is the
case, the bulk of this action surrounds allegations regarding PCI’s conduct.  Thus, to
the extent that there are individualized questions, common questions nevertheless
predominate. 
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The Court accordingly finds that common questions of law and fact
predominate over the possible need for proof for proposed members of the class.6

2. Superiority

Next, the Court must consider if the class is superior to individual suits. 
Amchem, 521 U.S. at 615.  “A class action is the superior method for managing
litigation if no realistic alternative exists.”  Valentino v. Carter-Wallace, Inc., 97 F.3d
1227, 1234-35 (9th Cir. 1996).  This superiority inquiry requires a comparative
evaluation of alternative mechanisms of dispute resolution.  Hanlon, 150 F.3d at 1023. 

The Court finds that examination of the relevant 23(b)(3) factors favor class
certification.  Rule 23(b)(3)’s non exclusive factors are: (A) the interest of members of
the class in individually controlling the prosecution or defense of separate actions; (B)
the extent and nature of any litigation concerning the controversy already commenced
by or against members of the class; (C) the desirability or undesirability of
concentrating the litigation of the claims in the particular forum; (D) the difficulties
likely to be encountered in the management of a class action.  

In this case, there is no indication that the class members would have a strong
interest in individual litigation.  The Court is not aware of any other pending litigation
on this matter.  Concentrating the litigation in this forum will serve the interests of
judicial economy.  Finally, the Court does not find that managing the class action is
likely to be unduly difficult.  

In addition, both parties emphasize various other arguments under the heading
of superiority and situate those arguments in the context of a series of recent decisions
on motions to certify classes for FCRA claims.  The Court addresses these arguments
and concludes that a class action is superior to individual suits for the purpose of
enforcing these provisions of the FCRA.

a. Disproportionate Damages

PCI argues that class certification should be denied on the grounds that the
aggregate statutory damages sought by the class would have a severe effect on PCI
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that is disproportionate to the harm suffered by the class.7  (Opp. p. 17.)  PCI claims
that because the eventual damage award may be unconstitutional, State Farm Mutual
Auto. Ins. Co. v. Campbell, 538 U.S. 408, 416 (2003), the class should not be certified
in the first place.  This argument has persuaded other district courts to deny class
certification of claims for statutory damages under the FCRA provision invoked here. 
15 U.S.C. § 1681n.  These courts found that the class actions were not superior to
individual suits when the damages sought posed “disastrous consequences” to the
defendant despite a lack of actual harm on the part of the plaintiff.  Spikings v. Cost
Plus, Inc., 2007 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 44214 at *13 (C.D. Cal.. 2007);  Soualian v. Int’l
Coffee and Tea LLC, et al., 2007 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 44208 at *11 (C.D. Cal. 2007),
appeal filed  Case No. 07-56377 (9th Cir. 2007) (concluding that “[g]iven the
disproportionate consequences to Defendant’s business and the lack of any actual
harm suffered by members of the potential class, the Court finds that Plaintiff fails to
meet the superiority requirements); Legge, et al. v. Nextel Communications, Inc., et
al., 2004 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 30333 at *45-50 (C.D. Cal. 2004) (denying class
certification and noting that “[a]llowing this case to proceed as a class action has
potentially ruinous results – without concomitant benefit to the class”).  See also,
Price v. Lucky Strike Entertainment, Inc., CV 07-960-ODW (MANx) at p. 8 (C.D.
Cal. 2007); Najarian v. Avis Rent a Car System, et al., 2007 U.S. Dist. Lexis 59932 at
*14 (C.D. Cal. 2007). 

These decisions rely heavily on Kline, which reversed a district court order
certifying a class, based in part on the finding that the potential damages “shock[ed]
the conscience.”  Kline v. Coldwell, Banker & Co., 508 F.2d 226 (9th Cir. 1974)
(relying on Ratner v. Chemical Bank New York Trust Co., 54 F.R.D. 412 (S.D.N.Y.
1972), for the proposition that class actions can be properly denied where plaintiffs
seek “outrageous amounts” in statutory damages for technical violations).  In light of
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2,000 co-defendants.

9  PCI asserts that the alleged violations here are technical.  (Opp. p. 19.)  However,
Tchoboian alleges that PCI’s violations were willful.  (Compl. ¶ 3.)  A willful violation is not
merely technical.    

10  PCI also argues that Kline is instructive here because PCI had no dealings with
Tchoboian.  (Opp. p. 18.)  The Court addresses this argument above.
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joint and several liability for potential damages, the court found that the class action
was not superior to other alternative methods of adjudication.  Id. at 235.  

Kline does not directly control this case, however.  First, the reasoning in Kline
turned on the drastic effect that joint and several liability would have on the potential
individual liability of each of 2,000 co-defendants.  Id. at 234.  The same concern
regarding joint and several liability is not present here.8  Second, the plaintiffs in Kline
brought claims for treble damages on unlimited actual damages under the Sherman
and Clayton Acts, whereas here the claims are for limited statutory damages under the
FCRA.  Id. at 235.  Finally, the reasoning in Ratner that supports the outcome in
Kline, does not apply here:  The court in Ratner found the damages “outrageous”
given that the alleged violations were merely technical, whereas here the class
members are only entitled to damages if they can show willful violation of the statute.9 
Ratner, 54 F.R.D. at 416.  See, White v. E-Loan, Inc., 2006 WL 2411240 at *8 (N.D.
Cal. 2006).  Cf. Soualian, 2007 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 44208 at *11 n. 8 (C.D. Cal. 2007).

This Court therefore declines to apply the Kline rule to this case.10  Instead, the
Court holds that concerns about the constitutionality of any damage award are better
addressed at the damages phase of the litigation and not as part of class certification. 
This approach is in accord with the Seventh Circuit’s decision in a  class action for
statutory damages under the FCRA, in which the panel reversed a denial of class
certification, noting that “constitutional limits are best applied after a class has been
certified.”  Murray v. GMAC Mortgage Corp., 434 F.3d 948, 954 (7th Cir. 2006).  See
also, Pirian v. In-N-Out Burgers, 2007 WL 1040864 at *5 (C.D. Cal. 2007) (noting
that “concerns regarding excessive damages are best addressed if the class is certified
and the damages are assessed”) (citing Murray). 

A court in the Northen District has recently followed Murray and certified a
class action under the FRCA, noting that if defendants succeed in opposing motions
for class certification on the grounds that aggregate statutory damages are too high,
that would mean that “the greater the number of violations of the FCRA, the less
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11  In addition, in Reiter v. Sonotone Corp., 442 U.S. 330, 344-45 (1979), the Supreme
Court found that the argument that “the cost of defending consumer class actions [would] have a
potentially ruinous effect on small businesses in particular and [would] ultimately be paid by
consumers in any event” is not an unimportant consideration.  However, the Court found, that is
a “policy consideration [] more properly addressed to Congress than to this Court.”  Id.   
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likely [it is that] a company can be held fully accountable.”  White, 2006 WL 2411240
at *8 n.8.  In this same vein, Judge Easterbrook observed in Murray that “[m]aybe
suits such as this will lead Congress to amend the [FCRA]; maybe not.  While the
statute remains on the books, however, it must be enforced rather than subverted.” 
Murray, 434 F.3d at 954.  This Court agrees that denying class certification based on
the potential for high damage awards is inconsistent with the FCRA provision for
statutory damages.

Accordingly, the Court finds that the magnitude of the potential damage award
does not affect the superiority of a class action for adjudication of this dispute.11

b. Alternative Methods of Enforcement

PCI argues that a class action is not superior because the class members can
bring their claims individually without risk of economic loss, because the statute
provides for recovery of attorney’s fees.  (Opp. p. 23.)  This argument has found favor
with some district courts in similar cases for FCRA damages, Spikings, 2007 U.S.
Dist. LEXIS 44214 at *15, Price, CV 07-960-ODW (MANx) at p. 10, but has been
rejected by others, White, 2006 WL 2411240 at *9.  This Court finds that a class
action is the superior method of enforcement for cases under the FCRA because the
available statutory damages are minimal.  Murray, 434 F.3d at 953 (noting that the
class action mechanism is “designed for situations such as this, in which the potential
recovery is too slight to support individual suits.”).  The Court is not convinced that
the fact that an individual plaintiff can recover attorney’s fees in addition to statutory
damages of up to $1,000 will result in enforcement of the FCRA by individual actions
of a scale comparable to the potential enforcement by way of class action.

c. Potential for Attorney Abuse

The Court does not share PCI’s concern that class actions under the FCRA pose
an unusual potential for attorney abuse.  Cf. Spikings, 2007 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 44214
at *16; Price, CV 07-960-ODW (MANx) at p. 9.  Moreover, PCI does not allege or
provide evidence for any abuse or impropriety in this action.  Absent such a showing,
the Court does not take the vague potential for attorney abuse into account.
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12  The Court need not address the parties’ Requests for Judicial Notice.  Moreover, the
Court did not rely on Tchoboian or Yedalian’s Declarations.  Therefore, the Court need not
address PCI’s objections to evidence.   
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In summary, the Court concludes a class action is superior to individual suits in
this case, particularly in light of the minimal statutory damages available to the
individual plaintiff.  The Court is unpersuaded by PCI’s arguments that potentially
excessive damages, purported superior alternatives, or potential attorney abuses
should alter that conclusion.

Accordingly, Tchoboian has fulfilled the requirements of Rule 23(b)(3).

IV. Conclusion

For the aforementioned reasons, the Court grants Tchoboian’s motion for class
certification.12  The Court appoints Tchoboian as class representative and Chant
Yedalian of Chant & Company A Professional Law Corporation as class counsel.
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